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PREFACE

The following oral history testimony is the result of a taped interview with Maria
Rosenbloom, conducted on September 23, 1996 on behalf of the United States Holocaust Memorial
Museum. The interview is part of the United States Holocaust Memorial Museum's collection of
oral testimonies. Rights to the interview are held by the United States Holocaust Memorial
Museum.

The reader should bear in mind that this is a verbatim transcript of spoken, rather than
written prose. This transcript has been neither checked for spelling nor verified for accuracy, and
therefore, it is possible that there are errors. As a result, nothing should be quoted or used from this
transcript without first checking it against the taped interview.
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MARIA ROSENBLOOM
September 23, 1996

01:01:03

Question: Hello Maria, welcome to Washington.

Answer: Thank you, Joan.

Q: Could you tell me the name that you were born with and when and where you were born?

A: Yes. | was born December 26, 1918, which in Poland is Christmas, so I’m a Christmas child.
And | was born in the city of Kolomyja, which at the time | was born was Poland, it was newly
created Poland. Before then, it was Hapsberg, Austria. Therefore, my parents spoke German and |
was brought up in the German language. My parents eventually learned some Polish but they didn’t
like the language, so at home the language was German. When | came to school | naturally had to
learn Polish so at the age of five-and-a-half I entered a Polish school in Kolo-mier (ph) and | said
something in Polish which didn’t sound right because it was not my initial language. So the
children, including the teacher, started laughing, making fun of me. Naturally, it was quite
traumatic. | ran home crying, crying I’ll never go to school again. Well, I did go back. And I’ve
been a student for many, many years later. Interesting enough, when | thought about this experience
many Yyears ago, | think it played an important role in my later life choice of Polish as the aid of
concentrations university, strange as it may sound. But there are some dynamics that turned it
upright anyway so this was my experience. Actually, | was writing still, I still am, and German and
Polish are pretty much my languages even though, although they have both deteriorated. Well, the
way | remember Kolomyja, it was a small town, although it wasn’t small to the eyes of a child. And
later when | visited the smaller towns, the villages around, it seemed that Kolomyja was big. It’s an
interesting thing about Kolomyja that, as | write about it just years later, many years later, that Ta-
pan-gee (ph) was an important city during the earlier centuries. It’s very old. They just celebrated

seven hundred and fifty years of the birth of the town and they say it goes back even further. It was
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ransacked, it was demolished, it was burned all the way, many times, first by the Tartars, then by the
Mongols, or vise-versa, then by the Cossacks. There were endless destruction’s and occupations of
Kolomyja. | do not know how far my father’s family goes back. The name was Hiersch (ph) and |

was born as Matylda Hirsch.

01:04:02

My parents wanted to Polonaise my name because that was important for them, | assume, as many
parents do, but at home | was called Mattie because my parents spoke German. My father spoke
Yiddish with many of his helpers in the store and business with some of the people in the
community, but my mother was very snobbish about it. She came from another city called Chad-
no-vich (ph). Czernowitz was a bigger city, it was a very snobbish city, it was, they called
themselves small Paris, little Paris. Her parents lived there. Actually, | knew only her father
because her mother died just before | was born and | was named after her mother. So she had that
air of Czernowitz about her and she despised Kolomyja and she despised Ukrainian town and she
despised the Polish people and she didn’t want to hear any of the Yiddish language. So, sadly
enough, 1 was brought up in the German language and German was the language, but certainly |
spoke Polish later and, with my girlfriends it was always Polish. There was a city itself, | saw it
only forty years ago for the first time | went back. It’s a handsome city now and as | read some of
it’s history, it had a rich history, over the centuries it was a town in which a lot of trade was going
on. It was on the tracks between Poland and Austria and Romania, so apparently business and trade
was very important. My own father came from a whole generation of people who owned the same
store, the same business. This was porcelain and enamel and glass. So we always had the very
beautiful table settings because of their availability. | remember that when my older sister got
married, and her husband didn’t have a profession, so my father took him into the business. But
smartly gave him a special division of it, so he became the importer of chandeliers. It all sounds

very, very strange but this was back in our time. My father was Orthodox, my mother came also
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from a religious family, but not as Orthodox. So there was a little bit cheating, | suppose, but she
wore a wig because it was important in our home town. My father was a follower of Rabbi, he was
a Hasidic, a follower of a Rabbi called Wishnitz, he came from the city of Vinnitsa. Apparently he
was important in the Rabbinical dynasty and as a child | remember the Wishnitz (ph) Rabbi coming
and staying in our home and | didn’t like it.

Q: Why?

01:06:59

A: | was crushed by the, by the tone of all these people. He would come, | was very young then, he
would come Thursday night for Sukkotbat. So on Thursday night, from the railway station, he
would come escorted by about 200 hus-a-dem (ph), some from his own entourage’ and some from
our home town, and because it was dark, it was evening, they would come with, the German name
comes back, “Falken”, these lightings, strobes carried in the street, torches, right? Now it comes
back. | sometimes think in German from my childhood years. So they were full of torches and to
the dark night of my home town, which was very Anti-Semitic, although | wasn’t exposed to it, |
sensed it, and the women would stand on the balcony and greet them, saw them coming in. Since |
was so young, to me this was an overwhelming picture and | said | didn’t like it. They all came into
our house, which was big and he would give him the biggest room. In front of his room was a
Gabbai, a Gabbai was the assistant of the man who collected the quitels, and quitels is something
that a Jew would write out on a paper asking the Rabbi for advice. So together with the paper |
assume that the Rabbi got the money too. | suspect it so. But anyway, the Gabbai stood in front of
our living room where the Rabbi held court and he would see people. Hundreds of people would
walk through our home. And to me this was overwhelming, very unhappy kind of experience. |
was the youngest and | think on me it worked more than on my sisters because | was already born
into Poland, it made a difference. Since I’m the youngest, my experience of learning school and

otherwise was different than that of my older sisters. It shows you the meaning of history.
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Q: What’s the difference in age between you and your sisters?

A: Five years each, five years each. My older sister was Cyla, C-Y-L-A if you want it, and there
was a difference of twenty years between us all. 1’m not sure, but something like it. She married
Jacob Goldstein, a man from Lvov who didn’t have money and didn’t have much of a profession,
but he was the son of a Talmudist and to my father, that was important. So, there was a
tremendous wedding, all my sisters had tremendous weddings except me, and their only son,
Menek, survived the war. | don’t know whether | should go into, she was killed in the last days of

the ghetto and her husband was transported to the Belzec Extermination Camp in 1942.

01:10:01

Anyway, that was my sister, Cyla, and she lived a pretty middle-class, it was pretty prosperous. Her
hobby was to do petite work, petite point, and | remember her beautiful pictures on the walls, all her
own work. This was her hobby. She was well known in town, she had girlfriends and when their
son was born, it was a great thing because he was the only boy in the family, until then we had
nothing but girls. Now the next sister was Frieda, her name, my sister Cyla, was Cyla Goldstein,
that was her name and her son is Menek Goldstein, and he survived. My next sister was Frieda.
She was very beautiful. Frieda married a man who was a cousin, a second cousin. He came from
Cal-es-sa-bot (ph), from a resort town, very well known spot in Europe. His father was a brother of
my father, but that was of a different mother so they were step-brothers. And therefore, it was
permitted for them to marry, even so, they worried that they’re offspring may suffer from it and be
mentally retarded, whatever. She ain’t, she’s a doctor of eye diseases. She turned out to be okay.
But this wedding, | remember vaguely. | only remember my dress, | don’t know why. It was the
most beautiful dress I’ve ever had. And their wedding was held in Stanislawow, a city a little bit
bigger than Kolomyja. This is somehow, | still remember. No, she lived in Karlsbad (ph) which

means she lived in a privileged place because Karlsbad (ph) was a beautiful international spot and
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he was making a good living, he had many patients so it was sort of high life. Anyway, in 1938
Hitler occupied . . .

Q: Wait, you’ve missed a sister.

A: Oh, you want to go this way, sure. Then the younger sister, also five years younger, is Frania.
Frania survived. By the way, my sister Frieda survived and in Czechoslovakia they got out of
Dorosig into Palestine. She’s still alive, she’s unfortunately in a nursing home now and her husband
died a few years ago. Then, there’s my sister, Frania. She’s alive, she lives in my neighborhood,
her husband was killed, and they’re child, Laszek, Alex, was about three years old in the ghetto and
miraculously he survived and he lives in New York City. Though she later re-married and her

second husband adopted him so his name is Alex Gitterman.

01:13:04

And then comes me. | was the youngest. No, my sisters still had a background of Hapsberg,
Austria, although Frania was very young then. In 1916 | believe, my parents ran from Kolomyja
because of the war. And they came to, they ran to a place which is near Sigit, Marmorosk | think,
which is where Wiesel comes from, which was a border of Romania and Hungary. There were
large Jewish communities there. My father went into hiding there because the Austrian army was
busy trying to find men to fight their war, they needed my father naturally, so they lived a very, very
difficult kind of life. I think they lived in Mon-room-a-vot (ph). And at that time 1 still had another
sister, whom | never met, she died right there. She was between Cyla and Frieda and | think she
was fourteen years old when she developed a serious appendix condition and there was no time to
get to the hospital, she died right in my father’s arms, | understand. Some things that | heard about
years later, my parents didn’t talk about it, but it was always in the air and | suspected that
something happened there, but | say, | was born after, I didn’t know. Only about ten years ago,
walking in the beautiful woods of Switzerland, my mother’s younger brother told me about it. They

talked about her in some ways, her name was Yetta, but it was hushed-hushed and it was never quite
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there. 1’m sure that my childhood was spent in a family which suffered from depression, yet it was
not, it was covered over. Probably because my father was a Hasidic and in the Hasidic tradition, joy
and pain are mixed. So, I think so, in looking back at it that my childhood was very complex
because it was a Hasidic family and my mother was, had that air of a bigger city with more
civilization and the country in which 1 lived was Polish Anti-Semitic, so | would think | have the
strength of all of that in some way in my own personality. But, | remember there were times of
when my mother would cry and this was the anniversary, not only of the deaths of my sister and her
daughter, but the death of her mother. They all lived in that hiding place near Sigit there and my
grandmother, her mother, died of a heart attack, apparently still a young woman, so for my mother it
must have been a horrible loss. She would go to visit her father later, she once took me to
Czernowitz and this | remember. These things are very vague in my memory because they were not

talked about, but it was there in the air and from time to time | would overhear something.

01:16:01

There’s a good possibility | tried to protect myself from the pain too. So | grew up in this family in
which | was extremely important because only years back later, | could understand the importance
of me. Because | had to replace all these losses, I’m sure. So, | was an extremely overprotected
child to the extent that I hated it, I was embarrassed by it. When | sneezed, there was immediately a
doctor around me. When | went to school, and | forgot my breakfast, somebody from the store
would knock at the door of my class and bring me the breakfast. My mother was extremely anxious
about me and my parents over-protected me in a way which probably helped them some way but
also did not. So my sister Frania, I think, was a little bit jealous, | never knew about it because no
matter what | did was fine. Which means | wasn’t prepared for the hardships of life that later came
my way. | was a child who could never do wrong. And they thought | was bright and | did

extremely well in school. To the end of my sister because she didn’t do so well, she was pretty and
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she liked to go with boys and she wasn’t so interested in studies. | was, all of my, the grades were
always above ‘A’, you know? Once | brought a “‘B’, I cried for weeks! 1 gota ‘B’ in mathematics
which was unbelievable because it was always ‘A’s in other subjects and my preferred subject was
Polish literature, romantic Polish literature.

Q: Did this create a problem between you and your mother?

A: No. | was a child who was smart. | don’t think | was pretty, my sisters were pretty, my two
sisters, Frania and Frieda were very pretty, but | never experienced a sense that I wasn’t okay.
Looks didn’t matter. | was accepted. | say | was, scholastically, | did so extremely well. My sister,
Frania, still remembers with pain that when my mother would go to the teachers for the periodic
visitations, they would say, how come your daughter, Frania, cannot do that well? 1’m sure it didn’t
do her any good, but that’s what she remembers. But she was very pretty.

Q: Tell me a little bit about your violin playing?

A: Oh, how do you know this? As, | must have been six years old, eight years old, I’m not sure.
My parents hired a violin teacher for Frania and myself. And we didn’t like it. But anyway, |
mastered in playing the Hatikva so every Saturday night, many guests, our house was full of guests

always.

01:19:07

I think I still carry this tradition to some extent. We had to play, the ha-tic-fa (ph) had to play, a few
other things. It was not something that | really liked very much. Probably I couldn’t identify with
the teacher. We also had a teacher of Hebrew. Darlis Bate (ph). And him we hated! He was a
poor, old Jew who didn’t know to teach. My sister and | use to bribe him, give him a zloty and he
would go, he would leave earlier. Unfortunately, we didn’t learn much so until these days, | cannot
read any of the Hebrew text and I’m sorry about it, | wish I could. But this was my mother, my
mother looked away because it wasn’t as important to her and as girls, we were not suppose to learn

much of the Hebrew text. We never was suppose to go to synagogue until you're married so | never
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went to synagogue because when | married, the war was on and I’ve never gone to a synagogue. |
remember, right after the war, there was some gathering of the American soldiers and | was
included and it was in a synagogue in Heidelberg, I’m not even sure, but occasionally I go now to
religious service but a synagogue is not part of my life and this is because of my background.

Q: Were your friends primarily, if not all together, Jewish?

A: All were Jewish. Well, in primary school, what you call, elementary school, there were non-
Jewish students too. | do not recall contact with them. | had two close friends, both were neighbors
on both sides of our house. We use to visit with each other. My main preoccupation was with
reading. When my girlfriends would come and to ask where | was, my mother or whoever was

around would say, you’ll find her in a book!

01:21:00

This was my childhood, | was an avid reader. But I liked to play with them and both of them were
killed, but we use to go away a lot. | think this too established my pattern of traveling later in life.
For ten weeks, every year, my parents would remove me from school a little earlier. It had to start
the 15th of June and | wouldn’t come back until sometime in September. Every year we would go
to the mountains. My mother believed that we didn’t look well enough, that we needed all the fresh
air. She believed in these things. So we went to the Carpatian Mountains because my home town is
surrounded by the Carpatian Mountains, Kolomyja is the entry to the Carpatian Mountains. We
would go to different places, the names may mean nothing, but from time to time they crop up.
Losuv, Garemcze, Delatyn, these were the places. The way we would go, it was so funny, my
father would stay behind and he would come one week. But we would go for the ten weeks and we
took everything along because these were pretty primitive villas. My mother insisted on a villa
which was inside and which was always surrounded by trees; apple trees, pear trees and plumb
trees. Poland has a lot of very delicious fruit so there had to be trees, that was the requirements of

hiring a villa. And it had to be close to the street but not too close, close to the street so we could
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look and see some traffic but not too close so nobody would come close to us. And it had to be on a
little river. On a little stream. And we would go swimming there, not swimming really, sitting
under the stones. My sister, Cyla, made it into her real hobby. She would go every morning, sit
under these stones in which you had a, what do you call it, little water fall and she would sit there
for hours hoping she would loose weight this way. She was overweight and she wanted to loose
weight, this was her idea. One day, she decided she really wants to do it more professionally so
there was a man from Warsaw, a Polish man, who ran a special spa for the loosing weight. He was
Anti-Semitic to the core. His name was Dr. Tarnovsky, but Jewish middle-class women like all the
others went there to loose weight. Well, she didn’t like that too much so one day they had an
afternoon off and she went to the village and she moved into Konditorai, a cafe. Konitorai | knew
was a very special institution. It’s coffee and hot chocolate and there was beautiful pastries. So, she
eats here pastry and drinks the chocolate and here walks in Dr. Tarnovsky and he sees that thing, he

walks over to her and he slaps her, right across her face.

01:24:02

Well, this was an awakening for her. She never went back to that spa anymore. But this was the
situation. Part of it was, anti-Semitism in Poland just had its full way, in different ways, but |
personally did not experience it in elementary school, perhaps not in elementary school but in High
School. Until I come to that, 1 remember these different locations of our traveling to for this
summer, and it was a whole trip. In front of us was always a carriage with horses which would
carry our beddings, our dishes, our household kosher which meant you needed double dishes, and
some furnishings. This was in front and in the back was Fiakev, a drosh-ka (ph), with my mother,
my father if it was for the week-end and all children. There was a maid, a woman to clean and it
had to be a Jewish maid to cook because we were Kosher. So coming to these places, my mother
believed in good air, fresh air and food. So she wanted us to drink milk from the cow. And she

would bribe us. So food was always something which they had to beg us to eat. | would get either
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a zloty or a big piece of chocolate to drink that milk and | always managed to avoid drinking that
milk. It was a game going on, | still hate milk for this reason. | was so ostioperosis probably
because I didn’t drink enough milk.

Q: This time away from, did this make all of you much closer than you would have been?

A: We were a very close family, always a very close family. Close in the family was a prescription
I’m sure of my family, probably because it’s a Jewish tradition but probably because they had
suffered losses. So, to my parents, the business was important to my father and he was a very good
businessman, family was all that mattered, always. And to us it still does. Now we have fragments
of the family but family is still very important to us, to all of us. So I was brought up with this, I
was suffocated by it, | really didn’t like that much closeness. And with my colleagues who had
more space, and | always wanted more space. My whole traveling in my life was always getting
more space. These were the consequences of that emotional overcrowding, extremely so.

Q: Were there political discussions that you remember as you grew up?

01:27:06

A: By the way, yes. | wasn’t involved politically until sometime later in my gymnasium years.
Yes, the Kolomyja, like most towns in Poland, had a lot of political divisions among the Jewish
people. There was the Main Zionist, and there were Left Zionist, the Communist, the Socialist, the
Liberals, the Divisionists, you name it. Amazing, a small city like Kolomyja which only had 40,000
people, half of them were Jewish, they had about a few Jewish newspapers. It was a highly literate
city. | wasn’t among them because my parents protection some how or other excluded me. My
parents protection and my need for the Polish patriotism somehow excluded me much from it, as
strange as it is. But I had liberal ideas. My parents, my father worried about it, that | was going
very liberal at one point. But | didn’t join a particular group. However, there were many, many

groups. Most of the Jewish people in Kolomyja as in most of Poland were poor. There were people
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who were really poor and then there was the middle class, upper middle class, and a very few who
were really extremely rich. There must have been, but in my home town the middle class and upper
middle class were the rich people. | remember, I still have a great pain when | think about the
poverty in my home town. My first memory is of the water carriers. We lived in a house in which
the apartment was on top of the business and there were wide staircases. And the water carriers, all
whom were Jewish, they were carrying up the water, big cans, because there was no other way of
getting water. The water came from a main fountain in the city, on Mokra Street. Mokra Street is
well known because there are survivors like Dov Noi, who’s well know, he comes from
MokraStreet. Many people lived on MokraStreet. It was the poorest neighborhood and there was a
big fountain and the water carriers possibly were on the lowest rank of the Jewish community. And
they carried that water upstairs. | remember once, on a very cold day, and Kolomyja being in the
Ukraine, a cold, cold climate. | asked my mother, how come this man has ice on his hands?
Doesn’t he like to wear gloves? This was my awakening, that some people didn’t have money for
gloves. The poverty was everywhere and when | think of that poverty, | think of them like of the
closest family because there was no right for them to suffer such an end as these people did. They
really never had any life. There was a lot of stigma about being poor and there was a lot of

sukkotme.

01:29:52

In my High School, which was a Jewish Gymnasium, it was one of the sets of gymnasiums, it was a
chain of, called Zyowskie Towarzystowo szkoty Ludoweii Sreduig, it was a chain of Jewish
Gymnasiums established in Poland, which was run by the Jewish parents, who established it. They
paid for it, it was extremely expensive. Somehow or other, because there was no gymnasium for
Jewish girls after elementary school, ten parents got together and established it. My parents and
nine others. And they took in one parent who didn’t have money. Their name was Neiman and she

was Sophia Neiman. 1 still remember the pain and the stigma and the sense of sukkotme. She wore
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clothes which came from America, which means she had a coat which was red. Only American
children wore red coat, we never wore red coat. In High School you wore navy. And this was such
a stigmatic thing. And another thing | remember is that outside was a school building, was an old
Jew who was selling some food, potatonik, and you could buy it with butter or with margarine.
Margarine was half price of butter, and she would buy the margarine potato. All these things stay
with me because it was so unjust. Well, of the ten students, we were ten students and ten teachers.
All teachers were Jewish. They came from Warsaw, from the big cities. We had to be more pious
than the Pope in achieving our accreditation because the commission would come down from
Warsaw and we had to be good. So we had ten teachers to ten students. And of the ten students,
miraculously, unbelievably, all survived! All the teachers were killed. 1 wanted to bring you
pictures, some how | couldn’t get it down from my wall, it was heavy. But I be jumping a little bit.
This was the gymnasium years and it was all Jewish students, all Jewish teachers. It was considered
a high level gymnasium. It is described in the book about Poland by Dr. Sylvia Helliard, you may
know about it, called “An Air of Destruction”. She has quite a bit about these schools.

Q: Were you all close, all the students, including the one who was somewhat stigmatized or what
about that one?

A: Well, she was not stigmatized by us, we just felt the stigma. 1 felt the stigma. For reason, | don’t
know why, I still don’t know why | identified with the underdog. Some way or other | assume it
eventually led me to social work, but I didn’t know the origins of it.

Q: But you, of course, were living in very privileged ways?

A: | lived by comparison, I’m sure here in America it now would not be because of it, but by
comparison with the others, and | had a lot of pain about it. Probably was a part of my rebelling
against my parents, whatever it was that came into it, that | became very liberal. The pain about
witnessing so much poverty still stays with me whenever | think about what happened. But
anyway.. So, this was the gymnasium years, we had to study a lot. We had to study Latin, eight
years of Latin, that’s a lot of Latin. We had to study, the only thing we didn’t like is religion. Of

course because the teacher wasn’t great. | had marvelous teachers of Polish literature, one of them
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became my role model. | think she played an important part in my choice of this profession later.
We had a teacher of German literature, we had mathematics, which was not my subject somehow or
other. But | couldn’t afford to have a ‘B’ ever so my parents hired a tutor. | fell in love with the
tutor, my first adolescent crush, and a learned it and | passed exams very well. Then we had a lot of
gym. | wasn’t great in gym, just passing. What else did we have? Certainly geography and history,
history was always my great interest and remained so. Geography and history. In the University, |
had to decide, study was history. | believe that you don’t understand people without history. In
those days, | didn’t understand it but now | teach my students that you do not understand people
without knowing history of their people. Well, we’ll come to it later, but anyway, | consider it as
part of the web of the personality, historic events. Those days I did not understand it this way, just
liked history. Every single strut in the roadway, you know, | had to memorize. We had to, we had
to decide a in High School and | was very good at it because | memorized Mickiewicz, Schen-
kavitch (ph), Krasinski, these were the very famous, and later came the positivists and | was really,
this was my life! It still is, reading, I’m still an addict in reading. | don’t remember now because
my mind doesn’t work well but in those days | absorbed it all.

Q: What attracted you to the positivists?

A: It was lit, oh sure, it was after the romantics who needed a pause! Orzeszkowa, Aun-jus-kov-a
(ph). The other day, they had a few months ago, they had a film festival of Polish movies and there
was a marvelous, marvelous movie of Orzeszkowa, | forgot what it was, it was fantastically well
done, but the positivists. And then when | came to the, this was all in High School. It’s amazing, |
didn’t have any conflict with Poles at that point. | studied so many years in high school, we were

totally isolated. We didn’t experience it.

01:36:14
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I didn’t know, my father had some customers who were Polish, but | didn’t have any contact. So,
anti-Semitism was nothing that was experienced personally except that it wasn’t it, but you knew it
was there.

Q: Did your parents talk about it?

A: No. | knew that my father would bribe the tax accountants, when they came, the tax man. He
would send them fantastic sets of porcelain for Christmas, as | remember, because of our discussion
what to choose for these people, so they were bribed. He would give some of them discounts, |
know, that later saved my life in strange ways. The Ukrainians were very poor. This was a Polish
regime and Ukrainians were both illiterate and poor. They were peasants, they would come into
store barefoot, | remember that. And they would always buy dishes which were considered very
inferior, fiance (ph), ceramic. They were painted. They would buy big dishes, painted, big dishes
for soup, or whatever else. But the fine porcelain was always for the Polish and for some of the
Jewish families too. But my father did more than this, handling the people from the city, but from
all over they came. It was an established business for the Province. And the provincial peasants
were very, very many. So we got both the Ukrainian peasants would come in and the Polish people
were the aristocracy, in a way. And then there were Jewish people with money. This was the
clientele and there were many helpers in the store and that’s where | picked up Yiddish because they
spoke Yiddish to a very large extent. We had a bookkeeper who survived the war, we had my
brother-in-law, my older sister’s, her husband later joined and he had the presentation of chandeliers
and enamel bath tubs.

Q: Enamel what?

A: Bath tubs. Tubs for the bath. This was all new because there was no way of having any, water
didn’t come into the apartment so you had to pour it, so the bath tubs we had for that luxury of
taking a bath. And he was doing very well this way but it was part of the business. So that’s where,
Yiddish you could hear in the store, they spoke Yiddish, these boys. One of them survived, | met
him after the war, | couldn’t believe it, but, the rest were all killed. | remember seeing them over

the, over in the ghetto.
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01:39:01

But, 1, so | was sort of isolated or protected from actual confrontation with anti-Semitism, but as |
said, it was always in the air. For instance, on Yom Kipper my parents would go to synagogue,
naturally, we girls stayed home. And we always barricaded ourselves. We were afraid always to
stand in the window or on the balcony, the balcony was a big part of our life. We lived on the main
street called Kol-soy-oi (ph), you could see people walk back and forth and my mother was very
orientated towards clothes, she was critical of this, this dress is too long and this is too short and this
is too bright and so on, but on Yom Kipper night, some of these nights it was forbidden for us to
show our faces, this | remembered. We worried, although we never experienced it, that some of the
Polish or Ukrainian goons will come and knock out windows so there was this sense of panic all the
time. In our town there were so many Jews, half of the population was Jewish. You could see the
difference. Suddenly it was very dark, it was very quiet, all the stores were closed, most stores
belonged to the Jews. No body moved, nothing moved. And then you always thought, somebody
will come, knock at the door, knock out the window, it happened occasionally but | myself did not
experience this. But | do recall the feeling of some anxiety, perhaps even panic, that it might
happen. So | say, | knew about it, but not in a personal way. Yom Kipper was very difficult, we all
passed it, | didn’t after a certain age, but Yom Kipper | remember as it was dark in the apartment.
There was a very severe fast. The breaking of the fast, people were very tired or slowly coming out
of synagogues, they were praying all day there. This | remember with a great deal of pain. The
Klezmar would come, to pray for us, a happy, ah, these people were very poor. These are older
Jews. Very poor, and they would go from house to house. It was my job, because | was the
youngest at home, | didn’t go to synagogue and because | was there while my parents had to come
from the synagogue, to give them some food to break the fast. | remember as a child carrying that
tray of honey cake. And they would pray, they would pray and then they would go, sometimes they

came back later at dinner time. 1 still mourn these Klezmar because they were so poor. It was so
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wrong that a night like that, after fast, they had to go and pray. The Klas-mas(ph) music has not

survived, the type of pain when | hear, it’s not good, it’s not authentic enough for me.

01:42:03

I must be honest, there’s very few people who remember how it was. They played in short sleeved
outfits, I can’t even, Perlman plays. He’s doing it well | suppose but he’s not good enough for me
because | remember the authentic players. Who could teach these young people here, they all went
to the ovens. This is the story of the Klezmar in our home town, they always played at weddings,
the weddings for my family were very big, and none of them survived from what | know. Anyway,
it was not right that people who have suffered so much poverty and so much indignity should ever
have to end up this way. It wasn’t fair. But in our home town, this was the story, this was true for
many of the other little towns too, all over Poland, particularly in these places. So, this was Yom
Kipper, my parents would come home, always with headaches, tired, but breaking the fast was
unlike here where you often have loks or these things, or there has to be hot chicken soup and the
Klezmar would come back to play and then they ate with us a little, but it was a difficult, a very
difficult holiday for us. There was no joy at all. Then came Sukkot and Sukkot | remember very
vividly because the Sukkot(ph) in our home was big. The entry to the apartment was a very big
hallway and it didn’t have windows but it had ceiling window, there was a name for it? When
there’s a windows in the ceiling, you know what | mean?

Q: Sky light?

A: Sky light. There was a very big room with a sky light and actually two of the other rooms, one
was a children’s room, also had a sky light. Anyway, the sky light in the foyer, the very big foyer
was removed for Sukkot and branches of trees, it was covered with tree branches because Sukkot is
a special holiday. My father would being in many people from the synagogue and they danced,
everybody! By the way, every Sukkotbot, | had to bring an Oye Nak-a-dom (ph) home and Oye

(ph) was a guest from the synagogue. There wasn’t a time that there wouldn’t come an Oye (ph),
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my father had to bring an Oye (ph). Somebody who was poor, who was stranded in the city and
needed a meal. A shabbat meal. Once my father came without an Oye (ph) and | remember how
upset my mother was and he had, poor man, he had to go back to the synagogue and find an Oye
(ph). There were always some poor people stranded. One Oye (ph) I’ll never forget. It must have
been 1938 by then because he told us that he came from Zbaszyn. Zbaszyn was a place, you know
about it, to which the Polish Jews were thrown by the Germans and he somehow or other, he
wandered and wandered around, he came to Kolomyja, a long way from Zbonsheen, which was on

the Zbaszyn border and he began to tell us a little bit about what happened.

01:45:20

But I think it was hushed over in some way, at least | don’t remember details. | remember that Oye
(ph). Another steady one, every Sukkot-bot (ph) was the matchmaker in town. My sisters got
married by matchmaker, through a matchmaker. The matchmaker, he was treated very well, but he
always said, he’s not going to eat, he just came for Kiddish. But, to eat you had to wash your hands
so he refused to wash his hands because he only came for Kiddish. So the Kiddish was a lot of
appetizers, three or four appetizers, and a lot of sweets and he was not eating, but he came, every
Sukkot-bot (ph) he came because my father had daughters to marry off. And he knew there would

be money there so all my sisters married and when it came to me, he looked me

over. The coming of age, he noticed my body, that it was getting ready for marriage. He started
looking at me more seriously, but | escaped him. So | never married through a matchmaker, 1
married my husband, very independent wife. But the matchmaker was at our shabbat table every
Saturday without eating. | always laughed because he ate about three appetizers you know. The
Jewish food was gefilte fish and it was pitché and it was something else, chopped liver, three, four
appetizers and he ate all of them without washing his hands, which means he didn’t eat. We all

laugh about it, we still remember the shabbat and they all went into the ovens. But, this was part of
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my childhood which | resisted to a large extent because | wanted to be very Polish to him. Without
being with Poles. Had a very mixed up mixture, but go ahead.

Q: Did you loose the little accent that you had when you first went to school, so instead of speaking
Polish?

A: Yes. My Polish is fine. | lost the accent and | must have made some sort of silent determination
that I’m going to beat them at it. My Polish saved my life in some ways, in some places, some
occasions when somebody looked suspiciously at me and | knew he was suspecting because | look
Jewish, | would open my mouth, which helped occasionally because | spoke very good Polish.
Now my Polish ain’t so good. But my German is better now, amazingly so. Yes.

Q: You went to University in 19367

A: 1936 | entered University again.

Q: And how did that happen, was this usual for young women?

A: No, not at all. Very few, there was no gymnasium for Jewish women, there was only the
gymnasium with the nuns, the Ursulanki nuns ran a Catholic, high school for Catholic girls and all

Polish girls were Catholic.

01:48:09

So there was nothing for me but that when my parents together with nine others created the
gymnasium. | came to the University, | certainly wanted to go to University and | wanted to study
Polish literature, there was no question about what | wanted to study. | was the youngest at home,
the only one at home. My sisters were married by then. And lived away. So for them, the lose of
their mezunka, the youngest is the mezunka, usually the favorite child in many Jewish families, but
with me it was doubly so. They were extremely unhappy about it, they wouldn’t hear about it.
Well, how could | make my parents hear me this way? | went on a hunger strike. For my parents, a
child wouldn’t eat, was the greatest tragedy. They could not stand my, they couldn’t stand the

separation from me, | suppose. They worried about a girl going away to a big city, what will

This is a verbatim transcript of spoken word. It is not the primary source, and it has not been checked for spelling or accuracy.



http://collections.ushmm.org
Contact reference@ushmm.org for further information about this collection

USHMM Archives RG-50.030*0379 19

happen to her? They worried about kashrut, where will | eat there? And they worried about
themselves, I’m sorry, I’m sure they couldn’t face each other all alone. All the sisters were gone
and they were still young people but they felt as if they felt old. So my father made a decision to go
to his Rabbi. At that time the Rabbi didn’t come to us anymore. He was old and he didn’t travel, |
suppose. He lived some where near Sigit, somewhere very far, it was Romania at that point. And to
go to Romania from Poland you needed passports by then, you needed visas, you needed foreign
currency, it was both the Polish government and the Romanian government made it very difficult.
But my father found a way and he went to the Rabbi. To consult with him, what to do about this
stubborn, little daughter. So the Rabbi, in his wisdom, I doubt if his experience was questioned, he
said, if she is as smart as a boy, you treat her as if she were a boy, send her to study. Father came
back and I went to study. And that is the story on how | went to study. My parents outfitted me and
I was always outfitted for every occasion, and | went to live off and they made arrangements with a
distant relative to house me. She was in Boughf, Lemberg. She was married to a man who didn’t
make a living, the name was Fisch, so there was hidden poverty, a little hidden poverty. | had a
small room there, kept extremely well for me. The woman worked very hard, again, | had a lot of
pain because she treated me exceptionally. | had to have the best meat and the best food and they
skimped and it was very painful for me to look at all these things. But that’s how it was and she
was getting 100 zlotys a month, which in those days was much money, and the whole family lived

off it. There was one daughter, a little younger than I. So this was what they lived off.

01:51:10

The first day, | get outfitted, my new outfit, and I go to the University and I’m small and | look very
young. | look much younger than my seventeen and a half years, | looked a little childish in a way.
Q: How old were you?

A: Seventeen and a half. Close to eighteen, in fact, when the Rabbi, when he married me later he

wondered whether my father was telling my age, | looked so young. But, | come to the University,
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it looked so big. It looked so tremendous and here in front of the big door stand two Polish goons
and Endeki, Polish Fascists. And there are big posters in front of the door saying, this is a week
without Jews. This, as | remember, is October, 1936. A week without Jews, | don’t understand
what they’re talking about, so I’m trying to get through and | see they’re hostile faces. Anyway, |
came to my classroom and | recall they wanted me to sit down on the left benches. The classrooms
were very big, at least to the eyes of the young girl from a small town, and they arranged that all
Polish students were to sit on the right side and the Jewish students were to take the ghetto benches,
the left side. Before I went to them, | already had some information from the Jewish-Polish society
of students, and they told me about it, and they told me Jewish students will not take the left
benches, the ghetto benches, but we will stand. So | looked for the Jewish students, there was no
body else, |1 was the only Jewish student. And to the right side were about, 200 perhaps, Polish
students and 1’m the little thing standing at the door. To cut it short, for the next three years, | stood
at that door. | took all my University classes in the standing position. | never sat down. It was
getting worse every day. There were weeks without Jews, there were special treatment of Jews.
The professors were unbelievably anti-semetic. The professors stood and they could see around,
they were a little high on the podium, and it was a requirement of each student to hand over the
indexes, it was a little book in which you would put a signature that you had attended classes, we
had to have that to attend every class in Polish literature. And as | put, and he would pause at the
end of the session, he would put his signature. One of them, Professor Tasycki, he was the expert in
the Polish language, not literature, but language for say, phonics. He saw my name, Matylda

Hirsch, he took a look, he threw it at the floor.

01:54:00

And the students applauded. | don’t know what made me go back. | just don’t know. It was sheer

anger, | suppose. Or sheer sukkotme of going home without finishing it. | was so defenseless. |
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was in such a fright. Everyday, | would literally vomit with anxiety, of entering that University. At
one point, they pushed me and they pushed me down and something | held on that I didn’t break my
body. One point I remember, a highlight in my University studies. Professor Julius Kleiner, may
his memory be blessed. The saying was that he was half Jewish, a quarter Jewish, one-eighth
Jewish, whatever it was. He was a very famous professor, an expert on the famous poet, Julius
Slowacki. His name was Julius Kleiner, and it was the same, Julius and Julius. He introduced us to
some understanding of the influence of Freud on literature. To me, it was all very new. But he was
extremely prestigious lecturer of Polish literature, particularly about Slowacki. And he saw me,
every time, standing at the doorway, all alone, as | was very insignificant little looking, very small.
One day, he moves from his katedra, all the way down to the doorway, | thought he was walking
out, he takes me under his arm, he brings me up to the podium and he asked me to take the chair.
Well! 1 refused to take the chair. | just stood, he finished his lecture, as he walked down, the
students threw eggs at him. Lucky they didn’t throw stones. Many times, they carried stones. Most
of the time, by the way, he was later killed, | believe, but I have lost contact. The Endecki would
take, would carry sticks, what do you call it? Sticks? With a Gillette at the bottom of it.

Q: Arazor.

A: A razor, yes. And they would always try to hurt some Jewish student. Once he killed one. This
was a friend of my husband’s, came later. Well, these were the days, | would get home extremely
depressed. Would study in this extremely small room, which they kept very clean, special for me. |
would study, my mind was everywhere else, but I still had all these papers, sometimes were very
good. We had a professor of Polish phonetics, this was a woman, she was a docent, a docent meant
an associate professor, docent to Professor Taszcki, so she didn’t have as much power as he but she
was a miserable creature, she looked like a monkey. She was horrible in every way and she focused
on me. And she focused on my podzigbienie.

which means, old church Slavonic. The old church Slavonic, she wanted to test it in some way and
she made experiments. Only years later did | realize that these were experiments taken out of racial

books, but | wasn’t aware of it. She put powder on our, what do you call that part? Of the most
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podzigbienie, I’m saying it in Polish, podzigbienie, and she would have us pronounce vocals. And
she wanted to study it and photograph, all were experiments, which | couldn’t understand, but she
wanted to tell us how we pronounce this vowel, how we pronounce, what is the other, the
consonant. This was all taken of Nazi books, which occurred to me only many years later. This
was Professor Dluga was her name. Terrible creature! And who does she play with? The one

Jewish student, that was me.

Tape Il
02:01:06

Q: Maria, we were talking about the three, it was three years, in Lvov, four years before you
graduated?

A: It was four years, but the fourth year the Russians were there and the University has changed
totally by then.

Q: Let me ask you a little bit about the three years. What gave you the strength to go to school, I
mean, talking about throwing up everyday before you go, | mean, was extraordinary stress!

A: | did not throw up everyday but | felt nauseous and I threw up occasionally, but the nausea was
part of the anxiety. | felt some sense of resistance, that I cannot leave. The Jewish organization
helped us to a large extent because | knew this was happening to other students too. The thing that
mobilized my anger rather than my anxiety was a funeral of a student in the medical studies. He
was literally killed in the classroom. His name just escapes me, | wish | could remember, but he
was a close friend of a man who later became my husband. This was a tremendous funeral,
somewhere or other, | felt this solidarity of people and | wasn’t alone. It was very unfortunate that
in the study of Polish literature 1 was the only Jew and that feeling of isolation was the worst part of
all of it. But then, I suddenly found myself in that procession of hundreds of students and | got this
sense of strength from the numbers. But it was extremely difficult and | always prayed that the

class be over and vacation come, each time there was a holiday, naturally I would go home. My
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parents were overjoyed in seeing me, | never told them the story of what was going on. | recall,
they would bring back the big, big pots and pans when | came because for themselves, they were on
diets, and the cooking was very limited, so when | came there were again celebrations. There was
some joy in the house again. | think it was in my, let me see, it was in my third year of studies,
second or third, 1 can’t remember, that | went to the library to pick up a Polish book and the
librarian told me that the book was just checked out. | said, who took it? She said, this man, this
young student. | walk over to the student and | say, | need this book. He says, he wants to read it
too. And I said, are you a student of Polish literature? He say, no, he studies pharmacology, the
medical school. So I said, but I’m a student of Polish literature and | need the book for an exam.
He says, well, you're quite stubborn about it. | say, yes, please help me with it. We started talking.
He was from my home town, | never knew him, but I knew of his parents because people knew of

the businesses.

02:04:03

His parents had a apotheketer (ph), pharmacy and everybody knew the pharmacy and | did. So he
was one of their sons, the youngest son. Well, arguing over the book, we became lovers. And this
changed my life immediately. | wasn’t alone. Nunek and | were going home, at least for vacations,
my father was very unhappy when | declared | wanted to marry him. Because his family, unlike my
own, was extremely assimilated to the extent that | think they would eat on Yom Kippur, which was
unusual. They carried it to an extreme. His father was for generations, they had that pharmacy.
They prided themselves in being extremely assimilated Jews. Well again, in my usual
stubbornness, my parents had to give in, so my father remembered that as a very young child, he
went to the chedet together with this man who had a few classes there, so they patched it up in some
way and they came and there was an engagement. It was 1938 or 1939. We became engaged and
my life naturally changed because | wasn’t alone, he was just about to finish his study, I had another

two years to go. That summer..
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Q: Tell me when you met?

A: 1 met him, | think it was 1938, two years after.

Q: Was he your first man?

A: My first boyfriend. Well, | had some boyfriends before. My first crush was on the teacher, then
I had a boy that, my parents arranged for me to meet boys in their house, which means dancing, so it
was always chaperoned. And I remember a crush on a young man who was later killed. And this
was my first crush, but my first intimate relationship was this boy, my fiancee, Nunek Najder. It
wasn’t engaged really, we started living together in a way, yes.

Q: What attracted you to him, do you think?

A: He loved Polish literature and yet he was in a different profession, so definitely yes, he was very
assimilated and | always struggled with this thing, you know? We had a lot in common because of
Polish literature. And we belonged to the Jewish Student Association, life changed. | wasn’t alone.
And | think, my later years, being alone was a real tragedy. When | was hiding, later. But, Nunek
was extremely affectionate with me, extremely devoted to me. We just seemed to be the right kind
of a couple, both young, he was two years older than I. We would go home for vacations and there

were always celebrations about it.

02:07:03

One day, for a long vacation one summer we decided to go into the wild mountains. | was very
much into hiking. Until a few years ago | was into it. And he too. This was the major sport for
many young, Jewish people. He didn’t belong to an organization, he was the assimilated sort of
category of Jews. But when he saw what was happening in the University, he became extremely
angry at those Poles. But one day we decided to go to a new, brand new hostel on one of the
highest mountains on the Carpatian Mountains, this was called the Chomiak. It was just discovered
recently and they built a hostel there. Hard to get there, after a point we were able to go by a car,

later had the march and was very far away. It was brand new, it smelled delicious | remember, there
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was one more couple from Warsaw, Polish people. And I recall the distance we had from them and,
we were the only four people, very far away. No body could get there. | do recall that they had a
sort of sense of superiority over us. They knew immediately that we were Jewish, although I looked
Jewish, my husband never did and he spoke Polish beautifully. He came from a family of long, of
long history of assimilated Jews. But somehow or the other, they sensed it. So although we ate
together, there was a sense of distance and there was our sense of looking up at them. This | still
remember. Well, it was a great experience, to be all alone in this stunning part of the mountains,
this is above Bor-auk-na (ph), Bor-auk-na (ph) was a village and from there we went to the
Chomiak. Later on, Chomiak became a popular place. When the vacation was over, it was the 1st
of September, 1939. Vacation was over, we went back to the village to take the train to Kolomyja.
It was a Sunday afternoon, we saw many, no, don’t remember why | think it was a Sunday, |
thought it was Sunday because many Ukrainian peasants were trying to read posters. When we
came to the posters, it was a Declaration of War. That Germany has just declared war on Poland. It
was September 1st, 1939. Shows you how totally unprepared we were for it. People lived in
Warsaw, not the cities, knew much more. We seemed to have been totally isolated from it,
particularly when we were up in the mountains there for many weeks.

Q: Were you aware of what was going on in Germany?

A: We knew a little, what was going on in Germany, it was Nazi Germany. We didn’t know how

much impact they had on our, on Polish students.

02:10:01

Actually, when | later studied it, the tactics of the Polish students were cut out of text books from
the Nazi literature. We didn’t know enough. When you lived in the western part of Poland you
certainly knew more about it. You didn’t, | didn’t, and my husband didn’t know either. But I recall
that day, later in the afternoon, I don’t know why | think it was Sunday, the only reason that I think

so is that when peasants just be all together in the center of the square. We read this, we didn’t
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really realize the importance of it. We were Polish patriots, strangely enough. Both of us had
military preparation, | had it in my high school days. All boys and all girls had to have military
preparation. Which meant we were taught how to wear uniforms, how to march. He had to be
taught, I’m sure, how to shoot. | wasn’t, but to march in parades and to march in case of a war. We
knew all these things, there was, forgot the name, Polskin, gosh how could | remember, forget these
names, anyway it was war preparation, that every high school student had to participate in. We took
the train and we thought perhaps we’ll go into the war, perhaps we’ll march, we just didn’t
understand any of it. When | came home | saw the gloom on my parents face, they knew more.
They had participated in World War | and they knew that war is not only songs and marches. This
was September 1st, 1939. Within weeks, the Russian army moved in. | didn’t know then, but there
was a pact between Ribintrope (ph) and Molotov (ph) and they declared that Poland should be
divided. Our part of Poland fell to the Soviets. This was within two or three weeks that the Soviet
army marched in. | remember the night when they marched in. It was very, what was the word for
it? The song sounded very attractive, it was mesmerizing. They were marching and their songs
were beautiful, I still remember their songs. And | was very much pulled somewhat or other, |
always was liberal, |1 was always poor. Many of their ideas, it seemed that, they were bring some
employment and dignity to the poor people. But, on the other hand, I could see from my parents
expression that they were worried and we didn’t know what the future would be, so it was strong. |
remember distinctly that night when they marched in and I recall the song, they sang these songs,

for some reason. Well, we went back to Lvov to study. My husband was just finished then, I think.

02:13:05

Q: Can you sing one of the songs?
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A: Gosh, [singing], oh, I can’t remember anymore. If tomorrow is war, we will defend Stalin and
everywhere we will be the victors. So, it had a mesmerizing quality for some reason because | was
in conflict. But I did go back to finish my studies. The University was totally different by then. By
the way, | was married by, this was 1940, | was just married by then. Well, come back to my
wedding for a minute, it was already a very quiet wedding. | never wanted a wedding in a white
gown, | was a very feminist kind of a woman, liberal kind of a women. | was not interested in all
these trappings of the bourgeoisie, which was very much the bad and good part of my background,

mainly through my mother.

02:14:02

So | always dreamed that I’ll just escape with my husband or I’ll have a very small wedding, but
anyway when the time came it was, the Soviets had just come in at that point and | was married, |
can’t remember the month which is insane, but I know it was 1940. It was the year when | was just
about to graduate. The Rabbi of our town was a close friend of my father, Rabbi Lowe (ph). His
nephew is the chief Rabbi of Israel now. The other nephew was chief counsel of Israel for New
York, the United States, |1 knew both of them, | met them later. But that Rabbi questioned my
father, he said, you say she’s of age to marry? She looks like a child. | just happened to look very
young. So the outfit for my wedding was a nice little navy suit and flat-heel shoes and a little veil, |
think. The wedding was in our own apartment in our parents home. There were hardly any guests,
the Soviets had just come in and the business was already taken over by the Soviets. My father kept
saying that he cannot give me much a dowry because of the war, because the Soviets have taken
over everything, but after the war he will reimburse me for it, I’ll get more dowry than any of the
other girls, and all the girls got good dowries. And I didn’t think of a dowry at all, to me this was all
very uninteresting. All | remember that, the day of the wedding, later we took the train and went
back to study and, in Re-volf (ph), and sitting on the train | wore that wedding band and he did too

and a Polish woman sits there across from us, she says, these days children have such a way of
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lying. You wear wedding bands, you're both children! He looked very young too, strange as it all
sounds now. But we finished our studies and the University was a totally different institutions. The
Soviets have changed it totally. While anti-Semitism was somewhat there, it certainly was there, it
was not official but there are no more Jewish students in my department. | mean, there was no
question in what | mixed with others. What | recall was extremely cold winter of 1940. The
Soviets suddenly did not have any steam anymore, everything was just taken away, including the
steam, how they managed that | don’t know. But whatever 